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on Wednesday 24 May 2006

Members present:

Mr John McFall, in the Chair

Mr Colin Breed Kerry McCarthy
Jim Cousins Mr George Mudie
Angela Eagle Mr Brooks Newmark
Mr Michael Fallon John Thurso
Mr David Gauke Mr Mark Todd
Ms Sally Keeble Peter Viggers
Mr Andrew Love

Witness: Professor David Blanchflower, gave evidence.

Q1 Chairman: Professor Blanchflower, welcome Q4 Chairman: You have a link with Stirling
University?to the Committee and congratulations on your

appointment. Maybe you have read the papers this Professor Blanchflower: I am going to teach a couple
of classes a year to the Scottish Economics Graduateweek and think you have been prejudged; let me tell

you, as Chairman, you have not been prejudged and Programme.
you have got a very fair hearing here, as any witness
has, so we welcome you on that basis. At the Q5 Chairman: You envisage yourself being here for
appointment hearings we focus on two issues, in more than 12 days a month?
terms of your professional competence and your Professor Blanchflower: I think so, yes.
personal independence, and it is those angles from
which we are coming; so welcome. As well as that,

Q6 Chairman: Probably half and half?we have quite a range of questions. How were you
Professor Blanchflower: Yes. My daughter is atappointed to the MPC and when did the
college here, my family are here, my eldest daughterappointment process begin and what did it entail?
is here, so the intention is I will be here to do myProfessor Blanchflower: I was contacted first by the
commitments to the MPC but my family are all here.Permanent Secretary, who asked me if I was

interested in the appointment; then there was a
period of about a week where I had a return Q7 Chairman: Who will bear the cost of your travel
conversation with him and they suggested that they from the USA; has that been arranged?
would like to oVer me the appointment and further Professor Blanchflower: Yes. The Bank is going to
conversations took place. Eventually I talked to the take account of that.
Governor and we made sets of arrangements and
eventually I agreed. The whole process took about

Q8 Chairman: How do you respond to concerns that10 days and it was done prior to the announcement
your teaching and consulting commitments in thein the Budget.
USA will make it diYcult for you to have the same
level of knowledge of the UK economy as that of

Q2 Chairman: Thank you. It has been reported that other members of the MPC?
you have agreed to travel from the USA for the Professor Blanchflower: I have no teaching
purposes of attending MPC meetings. Do you commitments in the US. I simply have an oYce. I am
intend having your main residence in the UK or will on what is called ‘leave of own charges’ so this is my
you commute from the USA? primary responsibility. I have just an oYce and no
Professor Blanchflower: My main residence is going responsibilities there. My consulting work is
to be in the US, my family and my children are there, essentially on the other two days a week but entirely
but I am going to be here for the time of the flexible, with very few commitments, other than one
appointment, so the arrangements are that I will be or two days a year I have to attend hearings. My
here for the 12 days a month that are necessary for focus in most of my research over the last 25 years
my appointment, to do all the meetings. has been primarily on the UK, it has been on other

things but if you look at my publications, either in
the title or in the content, they have been greatlyQ3 Chairman: Your time commitment to the UK

will be 12 days every month? about the UK, often UK-US comparisons, but I
have been very close to movements in the UK labourProfessor Blanchflower: The appointment is three

days a week and I will be here for those, but I have no market and other markets too, and to others,
including the US. My focus I think certainly can beother teaching responsibilities and so I will be doing

work as well while I am at Dartmouth. fully here.
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Q9 Chairman: You have some arrangements, I women from once a month to once a week generates
as much happiness as would a $50,000 per annumthink, with the Chicago public schools; is that your

consulting business? pay rise.” Does that apply in all cases?
Professor Blanchflower: No, I would not say I was aProfessor Blanchflower: I have been doing

consulting work over the years for the city of happiness guru. My interest is a technical one. I have
been interested in well-being and trying toChicago and currently for the city of Detroit. I have

been their expert in a number of matters particularly understand what impacts well-being and trying
actually to measure the eVect that money has onto do with school segregation and programmes for

small businesses. I advise those cities, yes. happiness. That happens to be just one part of what
I do, it is one small paper of many that I have
written. It is about really trying to value well-being,Q10 Chairman: Again, concerns are expressed that
trying to think about how much happiness a unit ofmaybe you will not have your ear close to the
money would bring and then trying to scaleground. How many UK regional visits do you plan
it against other things. It has been fairlyto undertake each year?
sensationalised but it is a very small part of what IProfessor Blanchflower: I intend to do a lot, actually.
do.The great tradition in labour economics, unlike in

monetary theory or other things, is really to be very
close to the ground and to hear about how Q15 Chairman: We will describe it as empirical

determinants of happiness?businesses behave and how individuals behave.
Currently I have two visits being organised now; my Professor Blanchflower: I think that is how we would

describe it. I am a type that measures things.intention is to do four or five, or more.

Q11 Chairman: Where are they to? Q16 Chairman: To what extent do you believe
that your appointment signals a greater oYcialProfessor Blanchflower: The plan is to go to Scotland

for one and to Wales for one, and they are being recognition that growth should not be measured
solely in monetary terms?scheduled at the moment, that is between now and

November, and obviously when I am in post more Professor Blanchflower: Obviously, I do not know
what the Chancellor’s thinking on it was, butwill come about.
certainly my research has to do with trying to think
about well-being, distress and thinking aboutQ12 Chairman: You will be doing English regional
growth, in a sense that, as an intermediate good, ifvisits?
you like, growth per se is not the thing we care about,Professor Blanchflower: Yes; that is my intention. It
it is well-being, living standards, impacting onjust happened that Wales and Scotland were
people. I think you might signal obviously that thereavailable so I said I would do those and I was happy
is an interest in it, because that is the kind of workto do them.
that I do and obviously it is of current interest. I
know about some of these issues. How you should

Q13 Chairman: On that basis, how important are signal it I am not exactly sure, maybe you should ask
regional considerations in setting monetary policy, the Chancellor.
say, in the USA, which you know well, and to what
extent do regions of the USA diVer in terms of

Q17 Chairman: The Committee have beeninflationary pressures and expectations and can you
discussing this issue amongst ourselves, so maybe athave a read-across to the UK?
some future date you could be an expert witness?Professor Blanchflower: That is a tough question. I
Professor Blanchflower: I would be happy to do that.think the strength that I bring, in many ways, is that
I think this is a growing area and obviouslymy research has a great deal to do with regions.
interesting questions come from this kind of work. II have spent a lot of time worrying about
was one of the early people to work on it, so I knowdisaggregation of things. I think my expertise is in
about it.the micro foundations of macro. I have studied a lot

of regional stuV in the UK, and most recently in the
US. It is very hard really to get very good details on Q18 Chairman: I do not want you to oVend either

myself or Mr Thurso, but you have said that “Scotsinflationary pressures by regions, but I think the
expertise that I have is relevant in that regional may be brave, but they are neither healthy nor

happy.” Why? We have a balance of numbers: halfthings are important. An example would be the
current issue about net migration. Migration from the Committee are getting upset here.

Professor Blanchflower: Chairman, this is not athe US to the UK of, say, 250,000 people has very
diVerent implications if all those folks came to value judgment, this is merely an observation in the

data. In a sense, it related to your previous question.London from if they went to Scotland. I have
regional knowledge. We have relatively little
information about inflationary pressures area by Q19 Angela Eagle: It is the fried Mars Bars.
area, but I have expertise in those areas. Professor Blanchflower: The Scottish Parliament

had said that we need to push for growth in GDP
and I had tried simply to look to see what were theQ14 Chairman: You are described as a happiness

guru and one of your researches indicates, and I am other measures, what other things did there appear
to be in the data, and on happiness measures thereading here: “Increasing the frequency of sex for
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Scots did not appear as happy as some others. It is Obviously, some of the issues have to do with oil
prices and we are going to have to see how this feedsnot a value judgment, Chairman, it was just what the

data said. through, but at the moment I think we have to wait
and see, with the data; that is my position.Chairman: You will find a buoyant, happy bunch

here. Over to Michael.

Q24 Mr Fallon: You are replacing Professor Nickell,
Q20 Mr Fallon: You said the Bank was picking up who was also a labour market specialist, and it was
the cost of your flights; are they also picking up the his belief that the rise in unemployment had created
cost of your hotels when you are here? the extra slack which would dampen down inflation.
Professor Blanchflower: They are, but that is taxable Do you agree with that?
and obviously I am paying tax on that. Professor Blanchflower: At this moment, I am not

persuaded one way or the other. I know Steve has
Q21 Mr Fallon: I understand that. My question is, if taken that position. Steve is very eminent. I have
you are not a home-owner here and you are not spent 25 years as a colleague of his and heard his
renting a property here, is it right that you are setting discussions. I am going to wait and see, at this
mortgage rates, eVectively, for my constituents, not moment. I think, again, there are still some more
bearing those housing costs yourself? arguments that I need to hear. There is some
Professor Blanchflower: I think the question the evidence in that direction but there is counter
Chairman raised was that the nature of this evidence as well; so I think you would say, yes, there
appointment has to do with competence and is some evidence of spare capacity, but David
independence and I hope to be able to persuade you Walton has made the point that there are other
that I have a strong background, am highly pieces of evidence too. I think it is a time really to be
competent in the fields in which I work and that I am cautious, look at the data, be briefed by the Bank
independent. I think your constituents would want and try to make an independent decision, and not
to have the best person, if you like, someone capable, prejudge the question.
to do that job.

Q25 Mr Fallon: Fair enough; but your position atQ22 Mr Fallon: Obviously you have followed the moment, therefore, is that you are not convincedinterest rate decisions here recently, from the MPC; there is suYcient extra slack in the economy tothere was a three-way split last time. Which way dampen down inflation. Would that be a summary?would you have voted? Professor Blanchflower: No, I did not say that. I saidProfessor Blanchflower: Actually I attended the pre- that there are moves in a number of directions. I doMPC for that meeting. I heard some of the not think I have been briefed suYciently to know thediscussions. I think the way that I would say it is, to right response to that. The trends have been flat andmake these decisions you need to look down the expectations seem to have been nice and constant,microscope. I have not done that, I was there for but now there are some fluctuations going on, weonly two hours, for the first meeting, so at this point need to understand the source of them and quiteI do not think I could say where I would go. I am a what is going on. I do not understand that yet, but Ivery strong data reader and I think it is a judgment think I am going to have to and I want to.call, so I think you need to look at the data, and I saw
some of it, and I think you need to hear the
discussion from other members. I heard none of Q26 Peter Viggers: When the concept of a single
those so I am going to keep an open mind on it. You European currency was first mooted, later known as
could see arguments in all directions, I could say the euro, what was your view of the concept and how
that, but I think it would be foolish of me to say what has your view evolved, if it has?
I would have done, as I had not heard the discussion. Professor Blanchflower: It is a very good question.

Obviously, there was a strong debate about whether
one should join the euro. I was not really party toQ23 Mr Fallon: Fair enough, but the current debate
that debate. I am not an expert on those kinds ofseems to be about the size of the output gap, seems
areas. I do not have a strong view really. Maybe Ito be the argument. What is your view of the size of
should have had one. I am not an expert there; reallythe current output gap in the United Kingdom?
I have not had a strong view about it, I am afraid.Professor Blanchflower: I guess there is one way to

think of things, as an output gap; as a labour
economist, you might think an alternative is the Q27 Peter Viggers: It is one of the biggest single
unemployment gap. I tend to think more like that, decisions in the field of economic activity.
they sit reasonably together. There does not seem to Professor Blanchflower: My expertise has been
be large evidence that there are substantial gaps. My broad-ranging; it has not been in that area, I am
view is that at the moment there are some series afraid.
which point in a direction of change. For an
empirical person like me, it is really the question is
this cycle or is this trend, and I think the answer is it Q28 Peter Viggers: How do you view the diVerences

in interest rates between the UK, the Europeanis too early to tell, I have not had the full discussion
with the Bank. There are some worrying things Central Bank, the dollar, the yen; how does the UK

fit into the international pattern of interest rates,going on, but a blip or a couple of data points do not
make a trend, and the question is, is it going to. how much do they interrelate?
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Professor Blanchflower: Obviously, living in Q31 Angela Eagle: Your particular expertise is in the
labour market and you say in your application thatAmerica, I have been watching the changes in
the labour market here is historically tight. Do youinterest rates. First of all, I experienced for quite a
want to say just a bit about how you have come towhile quite a significant diVerence between the
that view?interest rates in the US and those in the UK.
Professor Blanchflower: I would say, probably, I amObviously I am intrigued and interested in how these
an applied economist with a specialism in labourtwo things impact together. The piece of evidence
markets, because I have written on various areas,that you see, I think, in the US has been very
you might think on the edges of labour economicsstrong—evidence of significant changes and also, at
but that is really my particular expertise.the same time, a change in the Chairman of the
Unemployment has actually trended downFed—so I think you have seen some degree of
significantly, I think really since about the midinstability in the markets and some concern about
nineties we have seen a strong trend down. Ex antewhat is going on, more instability in the US than you
I do not think we would have expected that. Ex postsee in the UK. How those two things impact together
I think we could say probably it has been driven byobviously is complicated, but I think we have seen
changes in productivity; but ex ante I do not thinkquite a lot of instability in world markets, partly
really we would have known that was going to come.because of what is happening in the US. I get the
I think we have seen permanent changes in thesense, from living in the US, that the markets are less
equilibrium unemployment levels and they haveclear about what the Fed is going to do. The latest
remained in the UK, unlike most other places, theyinflation numbers in the last few days seem a little
appear to have remained, unemployment remainsworrying and it appears that interest rates now are
relatively constant since 2000 and inflation hasgoing to rise in the US, but it appeared perhaps a
remained relatively constant. It does not look to memonth or so ago that they were not going to. The
that we are very far away from the NAIRU or thequestion of how the two sets of things interact
equilibrium rate.together is an open question which I am going to

think more about.
Q32 Angela Eagle: That has actually gone down
over the years, that we have a fuller level of

Q29 Peter Viggers: Which are the areas where you involvement in the labour market?
sense the greatest stress? You have mentioned Professor Blanchflower: Yes, I think that is right.
that the United States possibly has market-led
diYculties; would you identify the United States Q33 Angela Eagle: Was that supply side changes?
economy as being one of the greatest worry areas Professor Blanchflower: My judgment is that it has
for you? to do with changes in productivity, potentially
Professor Blanchflower: Certainly the current brought by technology. In many senses, it is hard,
account deficit in the US of 7%, or so, appears to be until it is finished, actually to realise that has
unsustainable. There have been concerns obviously happened. I see it being quite close to the equilibrium
about the budget deficits that are being run, and rate. When a series runs along steady for five years
certainly the latest numbers on changes in the CPI and remains relatively flat and pressures do not seem
seem to be particularly destabilising. My experience to be coming from it, it suggests you are pretty close
is that, though obviously there are other issues in the to the equilibrium rate. There are lots of ways of

calculating it, but given that they all come out prettyworld, but it seems to me that what was going on in
much with the same answer then you have a flatthe US in the last three months or so is worrying, in
trend.some ways.

Q34 Angela Eagle: Professor Blanchflower, youQ30 Peter Viggers: What are the factors which
have done some interesting work on the wage curveconcern you most about stability in the UK with Andrew Oswald, which comes up with aeconomy? conclusion which is opposite to what the free

Professor Blanchflower: The best evidence we have market, neo-classical approach actually would
had so far is that this mechanism has worked very suggest. It is very intriguing that the higher the wages
well, this great stability that has gone on, certainly the lower the local unemployment and the lower the
since 2000. I think the question is how well the wages the higher the local unemployment. That is an
economy and the mechanisms are set up to sustain interesting finding, an empirical finding that you
large shocks which potentially will come. We have have done, with good, hard, microeconomic
seen one oil shock, and it seems to have sustained analysis, across 12 diVerent countries. What
itself pretty well; the question is how well are the implications do you think that has for approaches to
mechanisms set up to sustain shocks. Sitting in wages policy here, and particularly can you say
the US, seeing hurricanes Katrina and Rita, something in terms of skills and upskilling?
unpredictable, uncertain events, these things are Professor Blanchflower: There are lots of parts to the
going to happen, and events like this are going to question; let me try to take them through, and I will
happen on my watch. The stuV I want to think try not to forget this skill part. The work we have
about, what potential shocks might come and what done on the wage curve, which has gone back now
we might do about them, I am mindful of that and for nearly 15 years, started out in the UK, went

eventually to the US and we have done work on ahave started to think about that already.
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dozen or so countries. The wage curve now appears what extent do the housing markets make labour
markets less flexible. Also we are working on theto exist in over 40 countries and, what is interesting,

there is not a single country, where it has been tested, mobility of workers, how the mobility of workers
impacts on how an economy works, on wagethat it does not appear. Some people think of it as a

piece of evidence in search of an explanation; its inflation, and so on. Part of that has to do with
migration of workers within a country, because thatconstancy is something that we have remarked on

and it does not seem to be reasonably explainable by is particularly relevant in the US, people argue that
it has to do with, much of the benefit of the US is, ifmarket competitive models. It has implications

I think for the transmission mechanism from you like, migration across areas, and part of the
work has to do with migration into a country fromunemployment to wage inflation and we argue that

some of the transmission mechanisms are less than abroad, so I am actually working on the implications
of migration into the UK. Part of the work that weother people think; so this is obviously testable. In

some sense, our specifications say a tightening of the have done as well has to do with immigrants into the
US and particularly the movement of illegallabour market feeds through less to inflation than

perhaps other people in the past had thought. This immigrants into the US. It sounds a strange
connection but a lot of the work I have doneis obviously directly relevant to the kinds of things

that happen here; some of it we do not understand on Chicago relates to immigrants and illegal
immigrants, because in the early years thebut I am working on that.
immigrants came into the US and went to California
and to Arizona and to New Mexico, but in recentQ35 Angela Eagle: It is interesting, because the
times we have seen them spreading out. Since 1990, acaricature of the American labour market is that
million Mexicans arrived in Chicago, so some of thebecause there is virtually no regulation there is mass
work that I have been doing there relates to howcreation of jobs at very low wages. The wage curve
migrants come in, the mobility of labour, how thatwould tend to suggest, at least in one segment of the
impacts on wage pressures, and so on. I have beenlabour market, that is not true?
working on these; these are very big questions butProfessor Blanchflower: The surprise, first of all, that
the Bank is interested in them and I have beenI would have predicted when I started this work,
working on them both in the UK and in the US andbecause we started out to get a wage flexibility index,
it is a huge area.was that you would get something very diVerent in

the US than you get in the UK; you do not.
However, in the disaggregated sense, you do get Q38 Mr Todd: Our questioning of both MPC
some diVerences. I think the implications of it are members and Bank oYcials revealed a perhaps
hard to draw, but this is ongoing work, I think surprising level of ignorance about the impacts of
important work, that we have documented. It does inward migration into the UK and the UK economy
appear that the wage curve is that there is more as a whole, and that included obviously ‘on demand’
flexibility, more responses to wages for least-skilled patterns because that is a function of “Well, these
workers than there are for higher-skilled workers. In people arrive and they don’t just provide labour
some sense, our idea is to try to think about wage they buy things too.” You have a substantial
flexibility of countries, wage flexibility of areas, but contribution to make in that particular area
in some sense this is filling in the pieces of how the perhaps?
labour market works. We do not have the answers Professor Blanchflower: I think I do, actually. Part of
but many people think this is a significant step it is to do with the work that I have been doing in
forward. some of the places in the United States, as I say,

particularly in Chicago. I am aware of and have been
involved in a lot in the discussions about the impactQ36 Angela Eagle: And the implications for skills?
of immigration into the US, things like the MarielProfessor Blanchflower: I think, potentially, there
boat lift, what did that do to particular labourare.
markets. Actually I have been well-versed in thoseChairman: Forgive me, but we are moving on from
kinds of issues in the US and I am starting to workthat.
now, I have talked to the Governor, I want to work
on those issues here and that is one of the things I amQ37 Mr Todd: To what extent does migration play a
going to work on.part in this analysis as well? You will be aware that

the UK has, by European standards, a relatively free
market in labour, with migration relatively easy to Q39 Mr Todd: You did touch on, in the previous line

of questioning, to Angela, the issue of skills but thenachieve, and of course you work in a country where,
to a greater or lesser extent, there is a similar did not actually return to it, the importance of that

dimension within the labour markets and theapproach. To what extent does that aVect the
inflationary expectations and wage patterns? meaning of that in terms of inflationary impacts and

wage expectations. What research have you done inProfessor Blanchflower: It is a very good question, in
fact, exactly something that I am working on at the that area?

Professor Blanchflower: The area of skills shortage ismoment. Some of the issues that we are dealing with
obviously have to do with flexibility of labour an important one. I think it goes back to some of the

earlier questions about regional considerations. Ifmarkets, the interaction between migration, housing
markets and labour markets, so we are working on 250,000 migrants went to a particular place where

there was a shortage of labour, that was going toexactly these kinds of pressures, and particularly to
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have a rather diVerent impact than if they went to a Q42 Jim Cousins: The last meeting of the Monetary
Policy Committee did not see any significantplace where there were fewer shortages. I think the

question of how these migrants have moved, how pressure on wages, which is your special field; on the
other hand, of course, in the public sector, wagethey impact particular groups and how the labour

market impacts diVerent groups is the benefit of bargaining is national. What is your feeling about
that; do you think that national pay bargaining issomeone like me; that is what I do. My expertise at

the micro level has to do with, instead of thinking damping down inflationary pressures or increasing
them?about the aggregate issues, going to the lower level

and thinking about skilled groups and less-skilled Professor Blanchflower: There are arguments, one
might think, there is literature which should suggestgroups.
that national pay bargaining may have dampening
eVects, in the sense that possibly union leaders areQ40 Mr Todd: Just to turn to rather concrete
more aware of macro pressures and consequences. Ithinking on that, there is a conventional view that we
do not see particular evidence strongly supportingare interested in high-skilled migration into this
that one way or the other. I have done some workcountry, people with particular skills to oVer;
here on how pay should be set in the public sector.whereas the evidence of living, say, in the city that
My view is, in some sense, if the pay in the publicyou are speaking in now is that people with relatively
sector follows the pay in the private sector thenlow skills migrating here have very significant
we are going to be less concerned about itscontributions to make to the local economy. Where
consequences. I think you have seen a decline indo you place this part of your analysis?
unionisation, you have seen a decline in nationalProfessor Blanchflower: I think obviously that is
bargains and closed shops, and I think what you endimportant. You asked me about my experience in
up seeing is that pay tends to be rather more flexiblethe US. There has been a huge debate about, first of
to changes in macro conditions and that gives theall, if you have immigrants, how many do you have,
economy more flexibility and more bounce toand then what kind of policy do you have in the sense
absorb shocks. Pay settlements which reflect macroof matching skills. I have done some work, actually
conditions seem to me to be important. There isI worked for Microsoft on some of these questions,
some diVerence between the UK and the US. In thetrying to advise them about how you acquire
US I am involved with discussions about three- andworkers with the particular skills that you need to
four-year-long contracts, which seem to bematch your demand, so I have some expertise in the
complicated, particularly when there are benefits inconsulting world on those kinds of questions. It is a
there, but national pay bargains are on the decline.tough question; matching skills shortages is
There are issues within the public sector and thereparticularly important in an expanding, growing
are issues about acquiring staV in the south, whenlabour market, but I have worked on those
you have national pay bargains, but I have tried toquestions.
answer the question.

Q41 Mr Breed: To ask a slightly diVerent question,
Q43 Jim Cousins: Interestingly, the Chancellordo you believe that the £1.1 trillion of personal debt,
himself has questioned national pay bargaining inwhich is now amassed in this country, is vulnerable
the public sector and has been seeking higher levelsto any modest rise in interest rates?
of flexibility, and, as I understand your answer, youProfessor Blanchflower: I am a person who has
would be supportive of that?worked on capital constraints. In some sense, I think
Professor Blanchflower: I have written several thingsthe developments that have occurred in the UK
and done quite a lot on how probably you should seteconomy actually are lifting some of those
pay in the public sector across regions, and my viewconstraints, so individuals who take on debt, on the
is—I say it in the US and I say it in the UK—it isone hand, you might think this is of concern, but, on
hard to think that you need to compare directly tothe other hand, you might think this is a freer access
the public sector. The right thing to do probably isto capital, it frees up people to do as they wish.
to see what happens in the private sector, because theObviously the mortgage debt has risen, but I think
private sector will reflect out the workings of theof that as part of the move to freer capital markets
market, and try to reflect that. I think the problemand allowing people to do what they want to do. The
you have seen in the UK has to do with payment toconcern has to do more with unsecured debt and has
public sector workers in this great city, and that isto do with some evidence of growing insolvencies,
something which clearly is an issue.and perhaps that debt has aVected the low-income

groups I think you have to be concerned about, but
my view is that the opening of the capital markets is Q44 Jim Cousins: Yes; but just thinking about it,

because your academic colleagues in the UK at theprobably a good thing. You have to be cautious, in
some sense, and obviously we need to be concerned moment are engaged in a significant national pay

bargaining issue, do you think that national payabout people taking on perhaps too high mortgages,
and if there were to be a fall in house prices negative bargaining in the public sector, in the UK, has the

potential to be inflationary?equity might have consequences. I do not see the
change in debt as a fundamental problem, if you see Professor Blanchflower: Honestly, I think it depends

really upon whether it is connected to the GDPcapital markets working properly, and I have
written several things about fully-functioning growth in the economy and how it reflects the private

wage-setting. The public sector is not independent ofcapital markets.
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the private sector, and if the public sector is market surprises. I think the accountability is what
we should be doing, speaking to Parliament but alsounderpaying it is not going to be able to get the

quality of workers that it needs. I do not believe per making it clear that there is not a surprise coming:
“This is our thinking; this is how we’re movingse that it is going to be inflationary necessarily, I

have not thought hugely about that question, but forward.” That is the judgment that I have.
there are adjustments both in quality and price that
are made, and in quantity. My view is, as long as the Q47 Mr Gauke: Can I ask about the procedure as far
national pay settlements reflect what is really going as appointments are concerned, given that you are in
on in the private sector and what the economy can the middle of it, and I appreciate it is a slightly
aVord then not necessarily; but pay settlements that diYcult one, but you will be aware that there has
are way beyond productivity are not sustainable. been some controversy, as much about the

procedure as anything else. The Guardian reported
that Threadneedle Street had been deeply irked byQ45 Mr Gauke: You mentioned in the response to
the lack of transparency in the process of makingthe Treasury Committee questionnaire that you
appointments and the Chancellor’s habit of leavingfelt the UK monetary policy procedures were
decisions until the last minute. As someone in thefavourable compared with the US system. Could
middle of it, how do you feel about the process? Youyou outline briefly why you think that is the case?
are here a week before you start; do you think thereProfessor Blanchflower: One of the things I have
is suYcient scrutiny for appointments of newdone quite a lot in the last three or four weeks is try
members?to think more about that exact question and try to
Professor Blanchflower: It is a matter for Parliamentread some of the literature. I have talked to Tim
and it is a matter for the Chancellor.Geitner, I think currently he is the Vice Chairman of

FOMC, and also to Alan Blinder, who was one of
the previous ones, and tried to think about the Q48 Chairman: We are going to have a review of the

MPC appointments next year; it has already beenbenefits of this system compared with the US one
and think about what has happened given the projected.

Professor Blanchflower: I have an idea which I thinktransition from Greenspan to Bernanke. I think
actually there are very strong benefits, and the might be helpful. One of the diVerences you see is

that appointees come to the Senate in the US andliterature seems to be going in the direction of
benefits of this system here, with a declared target usually the week before their hearing they go and

meet the members of the committee. I am suggestingand with majority voting. I think the evidence is that
Bernanke himself is pushing—whether he will go that actually it might have been quite useful to have

come and met you folks, perhaps a week or sothere or not is another thing—more towards that. In
some sense, there is a sort of informal statement of before, come and have lunch with you. I think the

process, in some sense, is a shock.the target. The other issue which I think is very
strongly in favour of this system is the principle of
majority voting, in the sense that it gives less surprise Q49 Mr Gauke: Have you felt it has been a bit
to the markets. I think a vote of five to four gives the rushed?
markets some information. Vice Chairman Geitner Professor Blanchflower: Perhaps.
was telling me that what happened in FOMC has
been that Greenspan spoke for the Committee and Q50 John Thurso: Can I ask you about your answer
then, of some 80 or so votes, there were only seven to Colin Breed about personal debt; you made the
times when any individual voted “No,” so it was very correct point that a lot of borrowing is simply
unanimous all but seven times. Under Greenspan, I an eYcient use of capital, whether it be corporate
think Greenspan talked to the markets well; with the balance-sheet, whether it be a mortgage against an
transition to a new Chairman it is much harder, as asset, but in this country there is a growing amount
we have seen over the last few days. I think the of unsecured debt. Could I ask you therefore to
system here, with my appointment, the transition to focus on that? There have been recent reports in
me I do not think has quite the implications perhaps Scotland of some worrying trends of bankruptcies
that Bernanke has. The literature, I think, if you read and the amount of unsecured credit card debt; there
Blinder’s work, is supportive of set targets, majority was a report the other day that virtually everybody
voting and being clear about people’s views. over 50 has got an overdraft, they are probably not

lucky enough to be unsecured. Are you concerned at
the rise in unsecured debt and the fact that people areQ46 Mr Gauke: Can I raise also the issue of

accountability to Parliament and in particular the therefore very susceptible to rises in interest rates?
Professor Blanchflower: Yes, absolutely, I am veryfact that MPC members come to this Committee

regularly and give evidence: how important do you conscious of the rise in unsecured debt, especially as
it tends to fall on the lowest income groups and maythink that is?

Professor Blanchflower: I think that is incredibly well have particular consequences; so, yes, I am
worried about it. In fact, the paper I wrote aboutimportant. The democratic process working, as in

this hearing here, is important, important to come Scotland actually has some evidence about what has
happened at the very low end. In some sense, theand communicate to Parliament and to the people

and to the markets what the thinking is, how the benefit of a micro person, who does the micro
foundations of macro, is that they look, I look toprocess is moving forward. My view is that this

system works well in that it tries to avoid giving the these kinds of issues and I am concerned about them,
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on a regional basis and on a skill basis and on get briefed by all the individual sets of people in
particular income groups. Some of the work that I there, so how the Bank works, how the markets
have done has to do with “Let’s look at the less- interact together. I think the benefit I have is that my
skilled; let’s look at the lower groups,” if you like, interests have been broad-ranging, but there are
and it is those groups, and there was a question some areas that I need to fill, so I have a full set of
earlier about migration and so on, unskilled briefings going on to fill that. Probably it is more
immigrants coming into a particular area might well about the financial markets but I think I have quite
impact those particular groups, so the impact across a broad interest and knowledge.
the distribution is going to grow. I am concerned
about that and I have thought about it and I have

Q54 Kerry McCarthy: In terms of the regional visits,seen the data on insolvencies, and so on, and
does London count as a region and does the Cityobviously that is a concern. I share your first
count as a region?statement, which is that we want to free up capital
Professor Blanchflower: Absolutely. That is one ofmarkets, we want to free up product markets and the
the areas that I need to think about. I need to try tolabour market essentially might think they will
understand the market for derivatives and I do notfollow.
really know very much about it. I need to start to
think about those things. Absolutely, thinking aboutQ51 John Thurso: You talked earlier about voting.
what the City is doing is important, and I think it isStephen Nickell said to us in oral evidence earlier
the economics of walking about, it is an honourablethis year that one of the keys to the success of the
tradition, there are lots of things to learn. TheCommittee was that it was composed of individuals
surveys of businessmen’s expectations are importantwho came to an individual view and then used
and interesting; talking to business folk is important.majority voting to arrive at a decision. He went on
Obviously, modelling what people say is what I do,to say that would be reinforced if there was a section
so I come from that great tradition, you are pushingof the minutes that was owned by each member of
against a swing door.the Committee. Do you think that would be a

valuable contribution and would help in the process
of transparency? Q55 Kerry McCarthy: What sort of input do you
Professor Blanchflower: I have heard Steve has said have; when you talked about the regional visits thatthat. In some sense, this is more towards you are going to undertake, to Scotland and Wales,transparency and I am in favour of that. Obviously,

it sounded almost like the programme had alreadyI have not been to a vote yet, I have not sat down and
been drawn up and you would just fill in the slot tothought about how the minutes are going to be
go there? What sort of input do you have in decidingwritten. I think it is something worth looking into. I
which sectors you will go to visit, what sorts ofdo not know exactly the answer to that. It might
companies you will go to visit?delay the processing of the minutes. I am all in
Professor Blanchflower: The Scottish one happenedfavour of transparency. I do not know what my view
because I am interested in it. I have just been writingis yet. Perhaps the next time I come and speak to you
about it and it seemed to me a sensible thing to do,I can talk about whether it is feasible. I share your
and there were personal reasons.view that transparency is good; whether it is

practically possible I do not know.

Q56 Kerry McCarthy: Was the programme already,
Q52 John Thurso: I will ask you again in a year’s you are the person who decides where you are going?
time. Professor Blanchflower: No. I just said “I think I
Professor Blanchflower: Ask me again; that is fine, would like to start . . .” just because I had been
we can put that one on hold. thinking about Scotland. As I had been thinking

about Scotland, I thought I would like to start with
Wales, and they said there were vacancies to go andQ53 Kerry McCarthy: You have mentioned,
do that, and I thought, “Right; that’s for me.” Thatthroughout the dialogue we have had, that you need

to do a bit more reading on this, or you have gone does not preclude anything else. It is just that is what
away and done some reading on that; what would I am going to start with.
you say are the main gaps in your knowledge of the
UK economy at the moment?

Q57 Kerry McCarthy: I am just interested to find outProfessor Blanchflower: The main gaps. I think
more about which sectors you feel that there is aprobably the financial markets is probably the area
need to go and visit, rather than geographicalthat I need to think rather more about; the financial
locations, and what input you have in actuallyand money markets probably, although I have
drawing up the programme, or is this something onwritten some things. Particularly we talked earlier
which somebody else is advising you?about the capital constraints, I have written things
Professor Blanchflower: I do not know yet. Maybeabout credit cards and so on. I would say probably
again I will have to ask. I just said, “Please could Ithe operation of the financial markets and,
go and do that?” and we are going to work out theparticularly in the context of being a member of the
details. I do not know quite. I am the wrong personMPC, trying to learn about how the model works
to ask, but next time perhaps I can help, once I haveand how the forecasts work. I have a full set of

briefing meetings already organised. I am going to been there.
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Q58 Kerry McCarthy: Are there any particular Q62 Mr Newmark: What is behind it? I am trying to
figure out whether you are a hawk or a dove when itsectors, other than the City, where you think it will
comes to that sort of thing.be useful for you to start visiting companies
Professor Blanchflower: Certainly I have not labelledoperating in that sector?
myself and I do not think one could label me in anyProfessor Blanchflower: I was thinking about that
way there. The lexicographic preferences are wethe other day and I thought, obviously, going to
need to focus on inflation, so when you have a targetScotland, actually I am quite interested in the oil
of inflation, I think I said the word ‘band’ but a 2%sector, it seemed like a sensible sector to go and think
target of inflation in the longer term, there is goingabout, so I am going to suggest perhaps that when I
to be random noise in that number. I am going togo to Scotland maybe I should go to Aberdeen. I
focus on that.have broad-ranging interests and I want to hear

what the regional agents have to say and make
suggestions; and hopefully it will be a dialogue Q63 Mr Newmark: Standing behind that inflation
rather than them telling me where to go to. figure and getting just a little bit more granularity to

what you are thinking, what will you be looking for
in that index of inflation figures that will make youQ59 Kerry McCarthy: There are three relatively new
think, “Gosh, we must be thinking about raisingmembers on the MPC. What impact do you think
interest rates,” or lowering them?that will have on the dynamics of decision-making
Professor Blanchflower: I think, first of all, you areand do you think that, as somebody who has been
going to look at the figures on the CPI, you are goingbased outside the UK for a long time, you are going
to look at the source of them, because you do not getto be able to hold your own in discussions,
just an aggregate number, you get to see what isparticularly with the Governor and people who are
driving that change.not external appointees?

Professor Blanchflower: Obviously, I have not been
Q64 Mr Newmark: It is those drivers that I am tryinginvolved in the dynamics. The contacts I have had so
to elicit from you.far with the members of the Bank and other
Professor Blanchflower: Yes. I think we need to getmembers of the MPC, I have met all of them apart
to the disaggregated drivers and try to think what isfrom Paul Tucker, we have got on extremely well. I
causing that to increase and then look to otherwould say, my reputation is I am not a shrinking
markets. I would be looking obviously at what isviolet.
happening in the labour market, is there evidence of
wage changes, is there evidence that there is

Q60 Mr Newmark: Professor, do you think giving tightening in particular labour markets, where, in
regular speeches by MPC members adds to the which sectors, so in which sectors do we see these
public’s understanding of the role of the MPC and changes. This is the disaggregated experience that I
also transparency around their thinking? have, this is what is driving the change; is this to do
Professor Blanchflower: Absolutely, I believe that. I with an external thing, like oil prices, that in a sense
think I said so in my written responses, and in some the Monetary Policy Committee cannot control, or
sense in the response to Mr Gauke’s question. I is it something to do with a tightening of the London
think it is very important to do that, and obviously labour market.
it continues the tradition that I have done. I do lots
of academic things, but the tradition is, if you look in

Q65 Mr Newmark: You would still be able tomy work, I have done a lot of things trying to make
respond to it by raising or lowering interest rates?it amenable to the public to understand what I do.
Professor Blanchflower: Exactly. I think the crucialAbsolutely I share that view, I think it is crucial to
thing is, what you do depends upon the source,what we do, and I think it is one of the great benefits
which in some sense goes back to my earlierthat compares here with the United States, in that we discussion. You need to have a full microscope at thedo not know what Geitner’s view or Blinder’s view source of the change and the source of the push, if

on a particular decision was, and in some sense that you like, and then you think of the remedy.
makes it harder for the markets to understand and
to be signalled as to what is going on. I think it is

Q66 Mr Newmark: On this question ofimportant in transparency terms, but I think it is
transparency, because you kept raising it and Colinimportant in terms of the operation of the setting of
raised the issue of personal debt, which is over ainterest rates, so I think it is absolutely crucial that
trillion, looking at public sector net debt, there is aone should do that.
headline figure which I think is around £435/£450
billion, but it just seems there is a trend of putting

Q61 Mr Newmark: That brings me on to my next more and more debt oV balance-sheet, with PFI,
question, the setting of interest rates. Again, just to looking at public sector pension liabilities, and so
get a better understanding of the way that you think, on. There is some analysis which says there is almost
what red flags will you be looking for in the economy two pounds oV balance-sheet for every one pound
which will trigger your decision whether to move on balance-sheets. Do you think there should be far
interest rates up or down? more transparency, as you have alluded to, when it
Professor Blanchflower: I think of it as sort of comes to giving out to the public the true state of the

public debt which is out there today?lexicographic.
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Professor Blanchflower: I do not really know the spike in wages just because of, in the recent period,
bonuses in the City; you might think that is less ofanswer to that question, about how much

transparency there has or has not been. a concern, you might think of this as productivity-
driven bonuses. In a sense, we want to look at, sector
by sector, what is driving this wage increase in theQ67 Mr Newmark: We always hear the headline
sectors where productivity has risen; that is less of afigure, which is what is on balance-sheet, but it just
concern than in sectors where it has not. I do not seeseems to me the Government is putting more and
particular concerns about the blip in wage growthmore oV balance-sheet. I am not criticising the
because the City brokers, and so on, have been moretechnical reasons for doing that; my question is
eYcient; that seems to me rather diVerent from non-should there be greater transparency with respect to
productivity-based increases. I think one needs tohow much debt is actually oV balance-sheet versus
look at what the source of the wage increase is.on balance-sheets, because there does not seem to be

any today?
Professor Blanchflower: I am not an expert at all in Q71 Ms Keeble: Do you think that interest rates
that area. In general, my principle is, transparency have been kept at a slightly higher rate in
is better. anticipation of continuing upward pressure from

energy prices?
Q68 Ms Keeble: I want to ask just a bit more about Professor Blanchflower: I do not think there is a
inflation again. In the response to our questionnaire, great deal of evidence for that. The Bank has held
you noted that in February 2006 the Bank interest rates fairly constant for quite a time. In the
of England Survey of Inflation suggests that US it has been rising. We have seen interest rates
inflationary expectations are on the rise. How remaining relatively flat here. We have not seen a
concerned are you about that, or do you see it as just push on inflation, and I think it is a surprise. If I had
a sort of blip? been sitting in front of you in, say, 2002 and said,
Professor Blanchflower: I am concerned enough “Suddenly what is going to happen is a doubling of
about it that I have started to work on the data. oil prices,” I do not think I would have predicted
These are so-called micro-surveys and I have started what we have actually seen, but that is good. What
to look at those data, for the reason that it looks like we have seen is much more muted a response than
a blip; there is a sudden jump in February 2006 in the perhaps this Committee might have expected, or I
proportion of people who say, “In the next year I might have expected, a couple of years ago.
think price rises are going to be above 5%.” I was
suYciently concerned about that to start to try to

Q72 Ms Keeble: Can I come back on your one point,look at the data and understand what is going on.
which right the way through you have said “I’m
working on that; I’m working on that; I’m workingQ69 Ms Keeble: Do you think that is people’s
on that,” and you have talked a lot about being aexpectations, which are not always reality, or do you
data reader. I think one of the things behind a lot ofthink that it reflects some sort of underlying reality
Kerry’s questions was, obviously, there is aof upward pressure?
diVerence between that and actually seeing it forProfessor Blanchflower: That is obviously the
real, as it were. How do you intend to structure or goquestion. In fact, I was talking to the Governor
about familiarising yourself with the regionalyesterday about this, because I am quite interested in
diVerences in the UK economy and the diVerentwhat people say, so this is an area I am going to work
sectoral pressures, including, for example,on. The whole idea of working on well-being, if you
manufacturing?think that people say how happy they are, the
Professor Blanchflower: I think it is a very goodquestion is do you believe that; they say certain
question. I have tried, obviously, in my work, tothings. I have an expertise in trying to think of that
think about these regional questions. A great deal ofso I have been trying to look at who said it, why they
my work has to do with what is going on in regionalsaid it, and just one piece of information is that it is
areas. I have written stuV about the South East, Inot just people who think that price rises in the
have written about Scotland, but I think it is crucialcurrent period are high, it is others as well, and that
to talk to people, to talk to the agents, listen to thatis a concern to me that I am trying to understand. I
and go out and speak to people.do not understand it yet. I have just started to think

about it, but the Bank is concerned about it and we
are trying to think about it. Q73 Ms Keeble: There is a big bit of the north of

England between the South East and Scotland; it has
got very clear dynamics?Q70 Ms Keeble: You have talked about the need to

disaggregate some of the measures, in particular on Professor Blanchflower: I did not mean in any way to
suggest that those are the only regions; those are justearnings growth that you have talked about

previously, the link between that and inflation, the ones I have looked at. My intention would be to
look at each of them and to focus on other ones. I ambecause earnings growth is still being subdued, and

also energy costs and the extent to which that will sorry. I did not mean to imply that; it just happens
that I have worked on those two. The pressures fromcarry through?

Professor Blanchflower: I think it is important to each of the areas and their diVerent industry
structures and the diVerent pressures that they arelook at the disaggregated nature of things. A good

example might be, let us think about, we have seen a under are crucial. In a sense, I am starting at the
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beginning and I am crossing oV, these are the first noise occurs, but every fundamental change is
probably going to start this way. It might be justtwo and there are more coming; it is in
noise; I do not know.alphabetical order.

Q78 Chairman: Given your arrangements, you can
Q74 Chairman: You are going to visit everywhere? have one ear in the US market and the other ear in
Professor Blanchflower: That is my intention. the UK market, will it not be helpful?

Professor Blanchflower: I think we need just to watch
and take a longer-run view. I always tell my students,Q75 Chairman: You are going to get your two data points, you can draw a line between them,Hitchhiker’s Guide to the MPC; right? it does not tell you anything.Professor Blanchflower: I hope, not all before

Christmas, not to get a Hitchhiker’s Guide. Q79 Chairman: The labour market representative on
the MPC has been seen traditionally as being a dove,
for example, Steve Nickell; is that connected to theQ76 Chairman: Can I just finalise the questions.
appropriateness of a microeconomist?Over the past few days, some of the major global
Professor Blanchflower: I think so. In some sense,equities markets, including the London Stock
you might say, some of the big issues that the MPCExchange, have shown unusually high volatility.
is going to face have to do with labour markets,What do you think are the main factors causing this
housing markets, these issues seem to be important,volatility and to what extent was the volatility
and the growing areas in these things are micro-caused by concerns over future inflation in the based, so I think it is important to have that view.United States? Increasingly, in labour, people do the kind of workProfessor Blanchflower: Certainly it seems, in the last that I do, and Steve Nickell does that sort of work

week or so, that there has been quite a lot of and I follow in his tradition.
volatility in the US. The reports from the G7 about
unacceptable balances in the US have been a Q80 Chairman: You mentioned to us that meeting
problem. The latest CPI data suggests jumps in the members is a good idea, but we did go to the Bank,
inflation rate. There are some uncertainties about as a Committee, just after the general election and
what the position of Bernanke is, in terms of had a good morning and lunch with the members,
monetary policy. I am not able to understand, in the and it is something we will keep in mind, keeping
very short run, exactly what is going on. An example that contact. Maybe one idea that I could put to you
would be, in the UK the dollar exchange rate has is, given that members of the MPC report here but
changed by about 8% in the last three weeks. It is they do not come all the time, do you think the idea
hard to understand exactly what the source of that of an annual written report from each MPC member
is. Certainly I think that a lot of the instability has to to the Treasury Committee would enhance
do with pressures in the US economy. It is very hard, accountability?

Professor Blanchflower: I think, probably it would.as a modeller and an economist, exactly to
understand the source of that, but it does seem that

Q81 Chairman: Why do you not take that back forthe imbalances, if you like, and instability in the US,
the first meeting of the Committee and get theiris sort of tumbling over to other places.
views on it?
Professor Blanchflower: Yes.

Q77 Chairman: Do you believe the volatility signals Chairman: I will look forward to your
the end of the bull market, or is it merely just a short- correspondence on that. Professor Blanchflower,
term adjustment? can I thank you very much for taking the time to
Professor Blanchflower: Really I do not know. It is come this morning. It was very helpful to us and, as
very short-term. I think we are going to have to wait a Committee we wish you every success as a member

of the MPC. Thank you.and see. In some sense, you might think of it as noise;

Treasury Committee Questionnaire ahead of appointment hearing for Professor David Blanchflower

A. Personal and Professional Background

1. Do you have any business or financial connections or other commitments which might give rise to a conflict
of interest in carrying out your duties as a member of the MPC? Are there any relevant personal or other factors
of which the Treasury Committee should be aware in considering your appointment?

No. I will continue to keep an oYce at Dartmouth College but will have no teaching duties and will be
on “leave on own charges”. I will also have a part-time visiting appointment at the University of Stirling
and will give a few classes a year to graduate students in the Scottish Graduate Programme in Economics.
I will continue with my consulting practice in the United States which involves work as an expert witness
in public sector wage setting and as a consulting expert for a variety of public entities on the operation of
programs for Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in the construction industry.
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2. Do you intend to serve out the full term for which you are appointed?

Yes.

3. Please explain how your experience to date has equipped you to fulfil your responsibilities as a member of
the MPC?

My PhD at Queen Mary College, University of London was funded by an ESRC Collaborative Award
in the Social Sciences (CASS) and co-sponsored by the Department of Employment who provided me with
invaluable access to data and expertise. That provided me with “hands-on” training in the collection of data,
including survey data, at both the level of the individual and the workplace as well as useful insights into the
workings of the UK labour market and public policy. Since that time I have worked as an applied empirical
economist interested in the workings of international labour markets with emphasis on the UK. My
particular expertise involves the analysis of macroeconomic problems from their microeconomic
foundations with special concerns for aggregation and missing variable biases. My knowledge of the
workings of the US economy is likely to be particularly helpful and diVerent.

I have chaired the Economics Department and acted as Associate Dean of the Social Sciences at
Dartmouth. I have consulted for many public and private organisations around the world. I have acted as
an expert witness in many legal cases in the US which has included significant amounts of trial testimony.
I have been involved in wage setting for groups of public sector workers in the US, including economists,
bankers, judges, police and teachers as well as private sector firms in both the UK and the US. Further, I
have advised a number of UK public sector organisations on the operation of the Area Cost Adjustment
(ACA) and the Market Forces Factor (MFF), which sets budgets for local authorities and health authorities
respectively. In the mid 1990s I acted as advisor to the Elliott Commission which examined the operation
of the ACA.1

4. To what extent will membership of the MPC require a diVerent approach from that required in academic
research, with regard to the discharge of the duties and responsibilities involved?

I don’t believe my membership of the MPC will require a very diVerent approach than that required from
my academic research, which is applied rather than theoretical in nature. At the simplest level the focus of
the work on the MPC is on a single issue, how to set interest rates to keep inflation in a narrow band. My
academic research, on the other hand, has been wide ranging across a host of diVerent economic and social
questions. However, a considerable part of my work has focussed on understanding one single issue—how
wage dynamics and unemployment are related, which is clearly central to the work of the MPC.

My work is highly practical and related to questions of the day—the role of profit sharing; the impact of
unions; the causes and consequences of growing wage inequality; the causes of unemployment, how to set
public sector wages and so on. I have a broad range of experience outside academia. My consulting work
has involved applying much of my academic work to the real world. For example, a large part of this work
has involved examining wage setting in the public sector, especially for police, including the NYPD. Further,
I have consulted for the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve and the Farm Credit Administration
on the setting of pay of economists and other executives. I have also advised approximately twenty state and
local governments in the US on the adoption of policies toward small businesses, another area of focus of
my academic work.

5. Which of your publications or papers are of most relevance to your future work on the MPC?

The publications of most relevance to my future work on the MPC relate to the workings of the UK labour
market in general and wage inequality, wage setting, wage dynamics and wage inflation in particular. The
work on the wage curve—the relation between wages and unemployment—is of special interest. The wage
curve work emphasises the importance of using microeconomic data in macroeconomics in contrast to
aggregated time series methods. The wage curve has now been documented as existing in similar form in
over forty countries. I have recently been doing further work on the relation between wages, unemployment
and the housing market.

Of relevance also is the work I have done on youth unemployment, trade unions, job creation,
employment growth, the housing market, self-employment and small businesses plus the role of capital and
liquidity constraints. In recent years I have published several papers on well being and happiness with the
aim of understanding why, despite rising GDP, time series measures of wellbeing are remarkably flat in both
the UK and the US.

1 Elliott, R F, McDonald, D, R MacIver. July 1996. Review of the Area Cost Adjustment, Waverley Press, University of
Aberdeen and the Department of Environment.
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B. Accountability

6. How important do you think it is for MPC members to be subject to ex post parliamentary accountability?
What are the strongest and weakest parts of the current procedures in the UK? How favourably do you believe
the UK system compares with the US system?

I believe it is vital that members of the MPC are accountable to Parliament for their actions. The MPC
does this in a number of ways including issuing minutes of each meeting; publishing a quarterly Inflation
Report; writing an open letter to the Chancellor if inflation deviates by more than one percentage point from
target; giving speeches and interviews; writing academic articles and technical papers plus appearances
before the Select Committee.

The greatest strength of the current procedures, I believe is (a) its transparency (b) the fact that there is
a single symmetric target (c) that there is majority voting rather than the need for a consensus. The
procedures in the UK seem to me favourable to the US system where there is no single target and the lack
of majority voting sometimes makes it diYcult for the Fed to convey a clear message. The current procedures
appear to have worked very well.

7. If you were to make yourself available for reappointment to the MPC at the end of your term, what criteria
should be used to assess your individual record as an MPC member?

The main criteria must surely be how well the MPC had been able to hit its inflation targets. I would hope
to be judged on my voting record, my ability to communicate my decisions as well as my ability to work
with other members of the MPC and my contribution to internal discussions.

C. Other Professional Activities

8. What other professional activities do you expect to undertake in addition to your position on the MPC and
how do you intend reconciling these activities with your position as a MPC member?

I will give a few lectures to graduate students in the Scottish Economics Graduate Program. I will continue
to do some consulting work in areas I have traditionally worked in, including wage setting of public sector
workers, goal setting for programmes in public sector purchasing, primarily in construction and
desegregation of Chicago public schools. I intend to keep this work entirely separate from my work on the
MPC. I will also continue as a research associate at (a) the National Bureau of Economic Research,
(b) CESifo and (c) IZA. I have been associated with these research organisations for a number of years.

9. Outside of MPC meetings, what activities do you intend undertaking in order to add to the public’s
understanding of the role and decisions of the MPC?

I intend to undertake regional visits, speak with businesses, academics and the media and make speeches
regarding my interest rate decisions and other matters. I plan to continue to write technical papers on a
variety of economic issues as well as attending and presenting papers at academic conferences and seminars.

D. Monetary and Economic Policy

10. How might the system of control over monetary policy in the UK, in place since 1998 be improved? Is the
framework of an explicit symmetrical inflation target the best within which to conduct policy?

It is early days for me as I have not yet been involved in any vote and have not seen the process working
in its full complexity, but it appears that the current system is working well and is contributing to economic
stability. The existence of an inflationary target appears to be particularly helpful in impacting inflationary
expectations. I support the existence of a symmetric target because it means that risk of an excessively tight
policy is treated by the MPC in the same way as the risk of too loose a policy. Majority voting also appears
to have had a calming impact on inflationary expectations. The current framework seems to have worked
well. I hope the MPC is as successful during my term as it has been over the last few years in reaching its
inflation target with steady growth and low unemployment.

11. How great is the risk to UK growth and inflation posed by high nominal oil prices? How should monetary
policy react to higher inflation caused by increased oil prices?

The current episode of high oil prices has, so far, only had modest eVects on UK growth and inflation.
Why has this been the case? The general view seems to be that the economy is now less reliant on oil relative
to the 70s, and that in the current episode oil prices have increased more gradually. In addition the current
monetary regime has helped to anchor medium-term inflation expectations. In some ways this has been
surprising to me as I had expected to see somewhat larger eVects on both prices and unemployment.



3402221002 Page Type [E] 04-07-06 15:07:29 Pag Table: COENEW PPSysB Unit: PAG1

Ev 14 Treasury Committee: Evidence

On monetary policy, I think that the current received wisdom is that lags in the transmission mechanism
mean that monetary policy is unable to aVect the direct impact (or first round eVects) of oil prices on
consumer prices. So central banks have to tolerate these. But central banks need to carefully monitor the
potential second round eVects. For example, it is possible that increased consumer price inflation resulting
from the higher price of oil can dislodge inflation expectations. My worry would be that increased oil prices
might feed through to unemployment; although the very recent downward movement in oil prices below
$70 is encouraging. The concern would be if there were to be a significant further increase in oil prices which
drove up inflation and inflationary expectations and had major eVects on employment and unemployment.
The February 2006 Bank of England Survey of Inflation Attitudes suggests that inflationary expectations
are on the rise. The MPC will clearly have to monitor the future impact of oil prices very carefully.

12. What consideration should be given to the exchange rate and to asset prices, including house prices, within
the framework for inflation targeting? In particular, how should monetary policy react to asset price bubbles?

The role of asset prices in the conduct of monetary policy remains a controversial issue. The majority view
is that monetary policy makers should only react to asset price movements in so far as they aVect forecasts
of inflationary pressures. The alternative view suggests that monetary policy makers can do more. Namely,
by reacting to asset price bubbles, over and above considerations of their impact on inflation, monetary
authorities can improve macroeconomic performance.

It doesn’t seem to me that monetary policy can act to minimize the likelihood of macroeconomic
instability arising from large movements in asset prices, including house prices. This is because it is nearly
impossible to identify an asset price “bubble”. How does one know if the rise in asset prices has occurred
because of fundamental factors, non-fundamental factors, or both? In addition, there are a number of
practical concerns that have been raised. For example, the appropriate timing of a proactive monetary
policy response is diYcult to determine, the size of the interest rate rise needed could lead to a significant
downturn and there is the historically relevant risk that a bubble once “pricked” could degenerate into a
panic. Exchange rate movements can feed into inflation, but then the inflation-targeting policy would need
to kick in.

13. How would you describe the state of the UK labour market at present? In particular, how has net migration
impacted on growth and inflation in the UK?

The UK labour market remains historically tight. Employment levels have been rising and unemployment
has remained at low levels for several years at or slightly above the natural rate. Recently the participation
rate has started to increase. Wage settlements have held steady between three and four percent although
there has been a recent spike due to bonuses. There is, however, some evidence of softening since the middle
of 2005 with small increases in the claimant count and in ILO unemployment. There have also been declines
in the number of vacancies although most recently there has been a levelling oV. The cause of this recent
softening and whether it is a start of a new trend remains uncertain.

The overall impact of higher net migration on inflation and growth in the medium term are not clear-cut.
This is because there are two oVsetting eVects. On the one hand, a rise in net migration will raise the potential
supply of the economy. But on the other hand, migrants are consumers too, and their spending will raise
aggregate demand. These two eVects may cancel each other out, but even if they do not the impact is likely
to be modest at the level of the economy. At a disaggregated level such eVects may be more discernible. For
example, if immigrants help to ease skills shortages in particular areas, it is likely that the wages and prices
of that sector will grow less quickly that they would have otherwise done. The trouble is, of course, that one
will never observe that counterfactual, so it is very hard to measure the eVect. The bulk of the academic
literature in the US and UK has focussed on the labour market eVects of immigration. Economic models
suggest that net migration is likely to temper wage growth. But most economists have struggled to find any
significant empirical evidence to support these models.

14. Do you believe that the natural rate of unemployment is a useful concept? On your assessment, where is
unemployment currently relative to the natural rate?

I believe the natural rate of unemployment is a useful theoretical way to think about equilibrium in the
labour market. A good way to think of it is the normal rate of unemployment around which the
unemployment rate fluctuates. It is diYcult to measure empirically, and there are a number of procedures
one might use. It seems that the natural rate in the UK fell during the 1990s, likely because of improvements
in productivity but has remained relatively flat since then. I calculate that the natural rate is slightly less than
5% which is just below prevailing unemployment levels.
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15. How would you describe, and account for, the recent performance of business investment growth in the UK
and the USA?

Investment growth is generally pro-cyclical and more volatile than GDP and, like profits, very diYcult
to model. The investment recoveries in the UK and the euro area appear weak relative to previous cycles.
US business investment appears to have been a little stronger than that observed in the UK most recently.
There is no single, clear explanation for this observation; rather it is likely to be a combination of several,
quite complicated inter-relationships. First, there may not actually be a puzzle, since investment,
particularly recent investment is subject to a significant degree of measurement error. It is perfectly feasible
that the recent path of business investment will eventually be revised upwards. Second, if there is a
divergence, it seems likely that cyclical factors can explain some of the diVerence, such as greater corporate
debt in the UK, or less clearly, because of stronger business confidence in the US. But it may also be the
result of structural diVerences, with US producers having potentially anticipated an increase in productivity
not expected in the UK. Recent concerns about rising oil prices and worries about pension fund deficits may
also have impacted business investment in the UK.

16. To what extent should fiscal policy play a demand management role alongside monetary policy in the
short run?

I don’t believe that fiscal policy can successfully play a short run demand management role. I believe that
demand management should be left to monetary policy. In my view government spending and borrowing
is about having a good health service, schools and public services generally, not principally about trying to
“fine tune” the economic cycle itself.
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